
UNITEDS'lj'ATES DISTRICT COURT
 
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
 

FORT MYERS DIVISION
 

CASE NO.: 2~oq _cv_ 2Vi ,.Fr,l/l-Z.q 51'G­

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, 

Plaintiff, 

)
)
 
)
 
)
 

v. )
)
 

FOUNDING PARTNERs CAPITAL MANAGEMENT, CO.,· ). 
and WILLIAM L. GUNLICKS, ) 

) 
Defendants, ) 

) 
SUN CAPITAL, INC., ) 
SUN CAPITAL HEALTHCARE, INC.,
 
FOUNDING PARTNERS STABLE-VALUE FUND, LP,
 

)
 
)
 

FOUNDING PARTNERS STABLE-VALUE FUND II, LP, )
 
FOUNDING PARNTERS GLOBAL FUND, LTD, and 
FOUNDING PARTNERS HYBRID-VALUE FUND, LP, 

)
 
)
 
)
 

Relief Defendants. ) 
)
 

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE AND OTHER RELIEF
 

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission alleges:
 

I. INTRODUCTION 

1. The Commission brings this action to permanently enJom two recidivists ­

investment adviser Founding Partners Capital Management Company ("Founding Partners") and 

its owner and principal, William L. Gunlicks - from violating the antifraud provisions of the 

federal securities laws and a December 2007 Commission cease-and-desist order against them. 

The Commission also seeks to protect and preserve approximately $550 million of investor 

assets the Defendants have placed at risk. 



2. Founding Partners and Gunlicks operate three hedge funds and one mutual fund 

that made or invested in loans to two borrowers, Sun Capital, Inc: and Sun Capital Healthcare, 

Inc. (collectively "Sun Capital"). Th~ Defendants represented to investors that their primary 

fund, Founding Partners Stable-Value Fund, LP ("Stable-Value"), loaned money tQ Sun Capital 

to purchase discounted commercial and healthcare receivables, and/-that Sun Capital would in 

tum pay Stable-Value interest on the loan. Founding Partners and Gunlicks represented that Sun 

Capital was factoring short-tenn (collected within 150 days), highly liquid receivables, and that 

these receivables fully secured the loan to Sun Capital. 

3. Unbeknownst to investors, the Defendants, beginning in 2004, permitted Sun 

Capital to start purchasing receivables that were longer-tenn, less liquid, and much riskier in 

nature. Among other things, Sun Capital purchased these new receivables from often troubled 

hospitals that needed to remain operating in order to collect the receivables. Founding Partners 

and Gunlicks also pennitted Sun Capital to use investor proceeds to make working capital loans 

to these hospitals so they would remain afloat. In addition, the Defendants allowed Sun Capital 

to invest in workers compensation receivables· that take an average of almost three years to 

collect. 

4. Founding Partners and Gunlicks continued to solicit investors for Stable-Value 

without disclosing the change in the underlying investments and new risks they presented. Sun 

Capital now owes $550 million on the Stable-Value loan, which constitutes 99% of Stable­

Value's portfolio. Only 32% of this loan amount, however, is invested in and secured by the less 

risky, short-tenn receivables that Founding Partners, and Gunlicks described to investors. 

5. Sun Capital has ceased making interest payments on the outstanding loan from 

Stable Value. All that remains of the money investors placed with Stable-Value is the Sun 
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Capital receivables and any other assets ofSun Capital securing the loan. 

6. The investor assets are at immediate risk of being used to support Sun Capital's 

working capital requirements and of being diverted directly to Founding Partners and Gunlicks. 

In addition, Gunlicks is trying to avoid redemption requests he cannot satisfY by 'convincing 

investors to exchange their partnership interests in the secured loan held by Stable-Value for 

other riskier investments. 

7. Tbrough their conduct, the Defendants have violated Section 17(a) of the 

Securities Act of 1933 ("Securities Act"), 15 U.S.c. §770(a), Section 10(b) of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act"), 15 U.S.c. §78j(b), and Rule IOb-5, Sections 206(1), 

(2), and (4) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 ("Advisers Act"), 15 U.S.c. §§ 80b-6(1), 

(2), and (4), and Rule 206(4)-8 promulgated thereunder, 17 C.F.R. § 275.206(4)-8, and a prior 

Commission administrative order. 

8. The Defendants have shown they will continue to violate the law unless the Court 

grants the injunctive and other relief the Commission seeks. To prevent the dissipation of 

investor funds, the Commission also separately seeks emergency relief, including an asset freeze 

and the appointment of a Receiver. 

II. DEFENDANTS AND RELIEF DEFENDANTS 

A. Defendants 

9. Founding Partners is a Florida corporation with its principal place of business in 

Naples, Florida. Founding Partners is registered with the Commission as an investment adviser. . 

In December 2007, Founding Partners consented to the entry of a Commission order censuring it 

and ordering it to cease and desist from committing or causing any violations of Section 17(a)(2) 
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ofthe Securities Act. In the Matter ofFounding Partners Capital Management Co. and William 

Gunlicks, Administrative Proceeding File No. 3:-12896. 

10. Gunlicks, 66, is the president, CEO, and sole shareholder of Founding Partners, 

and as such is the primary beneficiary of Founding Partners' management fees. In the satne 

administrative proceeding, Gunlicks consented to the entry of a Commission order requiring him 

to cease and desist from committing or causing any violations of Section 17(a)(2) of the 

.Securities Act of 1933. 

B. Relief Defendants 

11. Sun Capital, hIe. is a Florida corporation with its principal place of business in 

Boca Raton, Florida. Sun Capital provides accounts receivable funding for commercial 

companies with loans from Stable-Value. Sun Capital is not registered with the Commission. 

12. Sun Capital Healthcare, Inc. is a Florida corporation with its principal place of 

business in Boca Raton, Florida. Sun Capital Healthcare is in the business of purchasing 

accounts receivable from healthcare providers with loans from Stable-Value. Sun Capital 

Healthcare is not registered with the Commission. 

13. Founding Partners Stable-Value Fund, LP is a Delaware limited liability 

partnership with its principal place of business in Naples, Florida. Founding Partners is the 

general partner of Stable-Value. As noted, Stable~Value loans investor funds to Sun Capital and 

Sun Capital Healthcare for the purchase of commercial and healthcare receivables. Stable-Value 

and its securities are not registered with the Commission. 

14. Founding Partners Stable-Value Fund II, LP ("Stable-Value II") is a Delaware 

limited liability partnership with its principal place of business in Naples, Florida. Founding 

Partners is the general partner of Stable-Value II. Stable-Value II's portfolio was entirely 
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invested in Stable-Value as of December 2008.· Stable-Value II and its securities are not 

registered with the Commission. 

15. Founding Partners Global Fund, Ltd. ("Global Fund") is· a Cayman company 

registered as a mutual fund in the Cayman Islands. Founding Partners is Global Fund's 

investment manger. As of December 2008, approximately 84% of Global Fund's portfolio was 

invested in Stable-Vaiue. Global Fund and its securities are not registered with the Commission: 

16. Founding Partners Hybrid-Value Fund, LP, f/k/a Founding Partners Equity Fund, 

LP ("Hybrid-Value Fund"), is a Delaware limited partnership with its principal place of business 

in Naples, Florida. Founding Partners is Hybrid-Value Fund's general partner. Hybrid-Value 

Fund's investment strategy consists of investing its assets in diversified equities and fixed­

income structured financial portfolio programs. Approximately 21% of Hybrid-Value Fund's 

portfolio was invested in Stable-Value as of December 2008. Hybrid-Value Fund and its 

securities are not registered with· the Commission. 

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

17. The Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 20(b), 20(d), and 

22(a) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.c. §§ 77t, 77t(d), and 77v(a); Sections 21(d), 2l(e), and 27 of 

the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.c. §§ 78u(d), 78u(e), and 78aa; and Section 214 of the Advisers Act, 

15 U.S.c. § 80b-14. 

18. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendants and venue is proper in 

the Middle District of Florida because the Defendants' acts and transactions constituting the 

violations of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, and the Advisers Act occurred in the Middle 

District of Florida. In addition, Founding Partners' principal offices are located in the Middle 

District of Florida and Gunlicks resides in the Middle District of Florida. Furthermore, the Sun 
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Capital entities conducted extensive business with Founding Partners and its funds as described 

in this Complaint. 

19. The Defendants, directly and indirectly, have made use. of the means and 

instrumentalities of interstate commerce, the· means and instruments of transportation and 

communication in interstate commerce, and the mails, in connection with the acts, practices, and 

courses ofbusiness set forth in this Complaint. 

. IV. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

A. Sun Capital's Factoring Of Receivables 

20. Since 2001, Founding Partners has made loans to Sun Capitalthrough its Stable-

Value fund to finance Sun Capital's discounted purchase of receivables. These loans are the 

primary focus of Stable-Value's investment program and represent 99% of its portfolio. 

Founding Partners' three other funds, Stable-Value II, Global Fund, and Hybrid-Value Fund, 

were invested in part or in whole in Stable-Value. 

21. Pursuant to the written loan agreements between Stable-Value and Sun Capital, 

Sun Capital could use the loan proceeds to purchase healthcare and commercial receivables, 

although it has focused almost exclusively on purchasing healthcare receivables. Under the 

agreements, Sun Capital could draw on the loans to purchase the receivables, and then repay the 

loans after collecting the receivables from the payors. Sun Capital charged its factoring clients a 

fee of approximately 3% per month until it collected the receivables, and paid Stable-Value 

interest of approximately 1.3% per month. After receiving the monthly interest payments from 

Sun Capital, Stable-Value then re-Ioaned the money to Sun Capital. 

22. Founding Partners charged Stable-Value a 1.75% annualized management fee on 

the total loan balance. Stable-Value investors did not receive any automatic distributions from 
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the fund. According to fund documents, however, redemptions were available on a quarterly 

basis if requested in writing with at least sixty days notice. 

B. Safety (lfThe Stable-Value Investment 

23. The cornerstone ,of Founding Partners' presentation of the Stable-Value 

investment opportunity was the safety of the loans to Sun Capital. Stable-Value's offering 

materials stated the loans were secured by healthcare receivables that Hare the payment 

obligations of Federal and State government agencies, and certain U.S. insurance companies 

rated by various rating firms." Founding Partners's performance reports represented that as of 

January 2007, approximately 93% of the healthcare receivable payors were rated Aa or above by 

rating firms such as Moody's, Standard & Poor's, and A.M. Best. Founding Partners' monthly 

performance reports reassured investors that "the loans are secured· by the healthcare 

receivables." Gunlicks represented to investors that the loans were collateralized according to 

strict criteria such that the underlying receivables would only be "investment grade." Moreover, 

Gunlicks explained to investors that the loan agreements provided that all of Sun Capital's 

assets, including the receivables, collateralized the loan balance and any accrued interest. 

24. Founding Partners and Gunlicks also represented to investors that the collateral 

would consist only of short-term receivables. For example, Gunlicks told investors that no 

receivable in the collateral base would be older than 150 days, and that any receivables reaching 

that age would be replaced with receivables less than 150 days old or covered directly by other 

funds received. 

C. An Undisclosed Change In Strategy 

25. Beginning in 2004, Sun Capital began to invest in receivables of a materially 

different character than what Founding Partners had represented to investors. At first, Sun 
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Capital began purchasing workers-compensation receivables, which carried more risk because 

they were based on un-adjudicated workers-compensation claims. These receivables also took 

an average of almost three years to collect, creating greater liquidity risks for Sun Capital and, in 

turn, for Stable-Value investors seeking to redeem their interests. These receivables also did not 

present the option for Sun Capital to return any uncollectible amounts because Sun Capital 

p.ri'rchased them in bulk at a discount. For instance, Sun Capital purchased some workers­

compensation receivables for $11.5 million that had a face value of $23 million. Sun Capital's 

fmancial statements show that as of February 2009, it held approximately $53 million of 

workers-compensation receivables. 

26. Later in 2004, Sun Capital began purchasing a risky type of healthcare receivable 

called "Disproportionate Share" receivables (commonly referred to in the industry as "DSH" 

receivables). DSH receivables are a special type of Medicare and Medicaid receivable the 

government pays in two parts to healthcare providers in poor or underserved areas. The 

government makes the first payment at the normal reimbursement rate and in· the normal 

collection period. The second payment is an amount in excess of the normal rate, which the 

government pays on average two years after the date of service, and only if the provider is still 

operating. 

27. DSH receivables are thus considerably riskier than standard healthcare 

receivables. They add significant liquidity risks due to their collection delays. More 

importantly, they add a "going concern" risk that ties their collectability to the provider's ability 

to continue to operate successfully. 
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28. Although Sun Capital first purchased DSH receivables in 2004, these purchases 

escalated in 2008 to 84% more than the prior year. As of February 2009; Sun Capital held 

approximately $158 million in DSH receivables. 

29. In 2004, Sun Capital's principals, through two separate corporations, began 

-purchasing distressed hospitals. Sun Capital subsequently began using Stable-Value funds to 

provide working capital loans to these hospitals. In particular, Sun Capital drew on the Stable-

Value loans to make advances to these hospitals to support their operations. As of February 

2009, Sun Capital had approximately $63 million in these related-party loans using funds 

received from Stable-Value. 

D. Gunlicks Agreed To The Strategy Change 

30. Gunlicks would not allow Sun Capital to repay any principal on the loans because 

.he wanted to maintain a stable return for his investors by having Stable-Value's assets fully 

i 

invested in loans to Sun Capital. As a result, in 2004, Sun Capital, forced to look beyond the 

typical health care receivable for additional investment opportunities, discussed with Gunlicks 

the possibility of purchasing workers-compensation and DSH receivables. Gunlicks approved 

the purchases and, among other things, waived the requirement in the loan agreement that Sun 

Capital purchase healthcare receivables with ISO-day collection periods. Gunlicks also approved 

using Stable-Value borrowings to help Sun Capital's principals operate the hospitals. 

E. Sun Capital Ceases Its Factoring Operations 

31. Subsequently, the arrangement between Stable-Value and Sun Capital changed 

significantly. In the fall of 2008, Founding Partners received a flood of redemption requests for 

Stable-Value, which totaled approximately $382 million (or 70% of the fund assets) by year end. 

Founding Partners faced severe liquidity problems and could not satisfy the redemptions. As a 
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result, in October 2008, Founding Partners instructed Sun Capital not to take on any new 

factoring clients, and later added it would not allow Sun Capital to borrow further to support 

existing factoring cliep.ts. 

32. fu November 2008, Sun Capital told Gunlicks it was exiting the factoring 

business. Sun Capital indicated it planned to solely focus on the operation of the hospitals. Sun 

Capital's principals and Gunlicks discussed a future plan to raise capital to repay all Sun Capital 

borrowings from Stable-Value. At that time, Sun Capital's principals told Gunlicks they needed 

$8-12 million in working capital from Stable-Value to keep the hospitals operating and protect 

$120 million in DSH receivables. Subsequently, Founding Partners provided Sun Capital with 

approximately $24 million in additional investor funds and reinvested monthly interest payments 

from Sun Capital. 

V. MISREPRESENTATIONS AND OMISSIONS 

A. Misrepresentations Regarding The Loans To Sun Capital 

33. . Gunlicks and Founding Partners represented to investors orally and in offering 

materials, monthly reports, and audited financials that the Stable-Value investment opportunity 

was an investment in loans to Sun Capital that were fully secured by healthcare receivables. 

They also represented Sun Capital would collect these receivables in less than ISO days or have' 

them replaced with new receivables or covered by other funding. 

34. The fund documents, offering materials, and financial statements for Stable-Value 

did not disclose that Sun Capital invested in workers-compensation or DSH receivables, or these 

receivables' longer collection periods and materially increased collection risk. 

35. Furthermore, Gunlicks did not tell Stable-Value and Stable-Value II investors that 

the collateral for their investments included workers-compensation or DSH receivables or that 
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these types of receivables took longer to collect and, in the case of the DSH receivables, had 

additional inherent "going concern" risks. 

36. Founding Partners' monthly perfonnance reports also failed to disclose Sun 

.Capital's investment in these alternative receivables or that they represented a significant portion 

of the collateral behind Stable-Value's loan. For instance, as of February 2009, th~ collateral 

portfolio was 55% comprised of these riskier, less liquid receIvables, yet the monthly 

performance repocts noted only that the loans were secured by healthcare receivables.. 

37. Founding Partners and Gunlicks also misled investors with monthly performance 

reports showing eight years of stable monthly returns of approximately 1.08% based on loans to 

Stin Capital that health care receivables purportedly secured. They did not disclose that since no 

later than January 2008, the total amount of receivables (traditional l50-day receivables, 

workers-compensation receivables, and DSH receivables) has been less than the balance of the 

loans to Sun Capital. For example, as of February 28, 2009, approximately $63 million of the 

collateral was comprised of loans by Sun Capital to related parties and a $450,000 loan to Sun 

Capital's CFO for the purchase of a house. 

38. Founding Partners did not disclose that since at least early November 2008, Sun 

Capital has been borrowing from Stable-Value to make working capital advances to factoring 

clients to protect the DSH receivables securing a portion of the Stable-Value loan. 

39. Moreover, despite the representations to investors regarding the receivables not 

aging beyond 150 days, Gunlicks effectively allowed a substantial increase in the aging of the 

collateral. Sun Capital's collateral report for December 31, 2008, indicates that approximately 

$136 million of Sun Capital's receivables, including workers-compensation and DSH, have been 

outstanding for more than 150 days. Furthermore, Sun Capital had approximately $40 million in 

11
 



additional workers compensation and DSH receivables less than 120 days old, most of ~hich by. 

their very nature Sun Capital is not likely to collect within 150 days. The age of these 

receivables directly contradicted Founding Partners and Gunlicks' representations to investors 

regarding the collateral securing the loan and the disclosures found in the most recent audited 

financial statements. 

B. Recent Misrepresentation Of The Investment Opportunity 

40. Despite knowing since at least early November 2008, that Sun Capital was exiting 

the factoring business, Gunlicks continued to solicit unwitting investors into Stable-Value 

through at least January 2009 based on the premise that Sun Capital was still using funds to 

factor receivables. 

41. In January 2009, Gunlicks raised $5 million for Stable-Value from the 

Archdiocese of New Orleans without disclosing that Sun Capital was exiting the factoring 

business. Gunlicks instead represented to the Archdiocese that Sun' Capital was purchasing 

healthcare receivables. 

42. Gunlicks also did not inform the Archdiocese prior to its investment that Stable-

Value was facing significant redemption requests. Gunlicks merely represented that Stable­

Value had two unsatisfied redemption requests totaling $11 million as a result of the decline in 

the markets when, in fact, Stable-Value was facing $358 million in redemption requests. 

43. Furthermore, Gunlicks and Founding Partners failed to disclose to the 

Archdiocese that they had suspended redemptions in Stable-Value altogether. 

C. Misrepresentation Of Having Audited Financials 

44. Founding Partners and Gunlicks falsely represented to investors that their funds 

had available 2007 audited financial statements. Stable-Value and Stable-Value II's offering 
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materials stated investors would receive audited financial statements within 120 days of the close 

of the calendar year. Gunlicks made this same promise in letters he sent to new investors 

. throughout 2008. Stable-Value and Stable-Value II di& not have audited financial statements for 

2007. In fact, the Defendants fired the auditors in February 2009 after the auditors were 

prevented from expanding the audit of the healthcare receivables because Sun Capital would not 

provide the necessary documentation. 

45. Founding Partners also sent all investors monthly performance reports throughout 

2008 indicating audited financials were available upon request. 

D. Failure To Disclose Prior Commission Action, 

46. Founding Partners and Gunlicks failed to disclose to investors that in December 

2007, the Commission entered an order against them finding that Founding Partners caused 

Stable-Value to pay an undisclosed fee to a related entity, and caused several of its funds to 

engage in transactions inconsistent with their offering memoranda. In the Matter ofFounding 

Partners Capital Management Company and William Gunlicks (Securities Act ReI. No. 8866, 

Advisers Act ReI. No. 268.0, Dec. 3, 2007) (the "Order"). The Commission charged Founding 

Partners with willfully violating Section 17(a)(2) of the Securities Act and charged Gunlicks 

with causing these violations. Stable-Value's offering materials touted Gunlicks' business 

acumen and experience, but failed to disclose the Order. 

47. In addition, the Commission's Order required Founding Partners to provide a 

copy of the Order to all of its currerit and prospective clients as well as any investors and any 

potential investors for one year, which it did not do. 
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E. Misuse Of Investor Funds 

48. Founding Partners and Gunlicks improperly used fund assets to pay personnel 

expenses. In 2008, Founding Partners' CFO received approximately $200,000 in payments from 

Stable-Value, Stable-Value II, and Hybrid-Value Fund. These payments Were contrary to the 

/funds' written representations that the general partners would bear the general administrative and 

personnel Costs of the funds. For example, the Stable-Value limited partnership agreement 

states, "The Partnership shall not pay directly or reimburse the General Partner for its operation 

and overhead expenses, including employee salaries, ...administrative services and secretarial, 

clerical and other personnel." The Stable-Value offering materials stated that Founding Partners 

"will bear the administrative expenses of the Partnership" and provide "administrative services, 

and secretarial, clerical and other personnel." 

VI. CLAIMS FOR RELIEF
 

COUNT I
 

FRAUD IN VIOLATION OF
 
SECTIONS 17(a)(1) OF THE SECURITIES ACT
 

49. The Commission repeats and realleges Paragraphs I through 48 of this Complaint 

as if fully set forth herein. 

50. From at least August 2004 through March 2009, Founding Partners and Gunlicks, 

directly and indirectly, by use of the means or instruments of transportation or communication in 

interstate commerce and by use of the mails, in the offer or sale of securities, knowingly, 

willfully or recklessly employed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud. 

51. By reason of the foregoing, Founding Partners and Gunlicks, have violated and, 

unless enjoined, will continue to violate Section 17(a)(I) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.c. § 

77q(a)(I). 
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COUNT II
 

FRAUD IN VIOLATION OF
 
SECTIONS 17(3)(2) AND 17(3)(3) OF THE SECURITIES ACT
 

52. The"Commission repeats and realleges Paragraphs 1 through 48 of this Complaint 

as if fully set forth herein. 

53. From at least August 2004 through March 2009, Founding Partners and Gunlicks, 

directly and indirectly, by use of the means or instruments of transportation or communication in 

interstate commerce and by the use of the mails, in the offer or sale of securities: (a) obtained 

money or property by means of untrue statements of material facts and omissions to state 

material facts necessary to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under 

which they were made, not misleading; and/or (b) engaged in transactions, practices and courses 

ofbusiness which have operated as a fraud or deceit upon purchasers of such securities. 

54. By reason of the foregoing, Founding Partners and Gunlicks, directly and 

indirectly, violated and, unless enjoined, will continue to violate Sections 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3) 

ofthe Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77(q)(a)(2) and 77(q)(a)(3). 

COUNT III
 

FRAUD IN VIOLATION OF SECTION lOeb) OF THE
 
EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE lOb-5 THEREUNDER
 

55. The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 48 of this Complaint 

as if fully set forth herein. 

56. From at least August 2004 through March 2009, Founding Partners and Gunlicks, 

directly and indirectly, by use of the means and instrumentality of interstate commerce, and of 

the mails in connection with the purchase or sale of securities, knowingly, willfully or recklessly: 

(a) employed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud; (b) made untrue statements of material 
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facts and/or omitted to state material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in 

light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and/or (c) engaged in 

acts, practices and courses of business which have operated, and will continue to operate as a 

fraud upon the purchasers of such securities. 

57. By reason of the foregoing, Founding Partners and Gunlicks, directly and 

indirec~ly, violated and, unless enjoined, will continue to violate Section 1O(b) of the Securities 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule IOb-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.IOb-5, thereunder. 

COUNT IV 

FRAUD IN VIOLATION OF SECTIONS 206(1), 206(2), AND 
206(4) OF THE ADVISERS ACT AND RULE 206(4)-8 THEREUNDER 

58. The Commission repeats and realieges paragraphs 1 through 48 of this Complaint 

as if fully set forth herein. 

59. From at least August 2004 through March 2009, Founding Partners and Gunlicks, 

by use of the mails, and the means and instrumentality of interstate commerce, directly or 

indirectly, knowingly, willfully or recklessly: (a) employed devices, schemes or artifices to 

defraud clients or prospective clients; (b) engaged in transactions, practices and courses of 

business that operated as a fraud or deceit upon clients or prospective clients; and (c) engaged in 

acts, practices, or courses of business which were fniudt,tlent, deceptive, or manipulative. 

60. Among other things, Founding Partners and Gunlicks made untrue statements of 

material facts and omitted to state material facts necessary to make the statements made, in light 

of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, to any client or prospective 

client and otherwise engaged in acts, practices, and courses of business that were fraudulent, 

deceptive, or manipulative with respect to its clients or prospective clients. 
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61. By reason of the (oregoing, Founding Partners~ directly and indirectly, violated 

and, unless enjoined, will continue to violate Sections 206(1), 206(2) and 206(4) of the Advisers 

Act and Rule 206(4)-8, 15 U.S.C. §§ 80b-6(1), (2), and (4), and Rule 206(4)-8 promulgated 

thereimder, 17 C.F.R. § 275.206(4)-8. 

COUNT V 

.VIOLATION OF COMMISSION'S CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER 

62. The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 48 of this Complaint 

as if fully set forth herein. 

63. From at least January 2008 through March 2009, in violation of a Commission 

administrative order, Founding Partners and Gunlicks, directly and indirectly, by use of the 

. means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce and by the use 

of the mails, in the offer or sale of securities, obtained money or property by means of untrue 

statements of material facts and omissions to state material facts necessary to make the 

statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, 

in violation of Section 17(a)(2) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.c. § 77q(a)(2). 

64. Founding Partners and Gunlicks also failed to provide a copy of the 

Commission's December 3, 2007 Administrative Order to all of Founding Partners' current and 

prospective clients as well as any investors and any potential investors for one y~ar. 

65. By reason of the foregoing, Founding Partners and Gunlicks violated the terms of 

a Commission Administrative Order. 
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RELIEF REQUESTED
 

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court:
 

I. Declaratory Relief 

Declare, detennineand find that Founding Partners and. Gunlicks committed the 

violations of the federal securities laws alleged in this Complaint. 

II. Permanent Injunctive Relief 

Issue a Permanent Injunction restraining and enjoining Founding Partners and Gunlicks 

from violating: (i) Section 17(a)(l) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a); (ii) Sections 

17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.c. §§ 77(q)(a)(2) and 77(q)(a)(3); (iii) Section 

lOeb) of the Exchange Act, 15 u.s.c. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.lOb-5; (iv) 

Sections 206(1), 206(2), and 206(4) of the Advisers Act, 15 U.S.c. §§ 80b-6(I), (2), and (4) and 

Rule 206(4)-8 promulgated thereunder, 17 C.F.R. § 275.206(4)-8; and (v) the December 3,2007 

Commission administrative Order requiring Founding Partners and Gunlicks to cease and desist 

from committing or causing any violations of Section 17(a)(2). 

III. Disgorgement 

Issue an Order requiring Founding Partners, Gunlicks, and the Relief Defendants to 

disgorge all ill-gotten profits or proceeds they received as a result of the acts and/or courses of 

conduct complained of herein, with prejudgment interest. 

IV. Penalties 

Issue an Order directing Founding Partners and Gunlicks to pay civil money penalties 

pursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.c. § 77t(d); Section 21(d) of the 

Exchange Act, 15 U.S.c. § 78(d)(3); and Section 209(e) of the Advisers Act, 15 U.S.c. § 80b-9. 
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V. Order Pursuant to Section 20(c) of the Securities Act 

Issue an Order pursuant to Section 20(c) of the Securities Act requiring Founding Partners 

and Gunlicks to comply with the December 3, 2007 Commission Administrative Order requiring 

Founding Partners to cease and desist from committing or causing any violations and future 

violations ofSection 17(a)(2)ofthe Securities Act. 

VI. Further Relief
 

Grant such other and further relief as may be necessary and appropriate.
 

VII. Retention of Jurisdiction 

Further, the Commission respectfully requests the Court retain jurisdiction over this 

action in order to implement and carry out the terms of all orders and decrees that may hereby be 

entered, or to entertain any suitable application or motion by the Commission for additional 

relief within the jurisdiction of this Court. 

Respectfully submitted, 

4~April 20, 2009 By: 
C. Ian Anderson 
Senior Trial Counsel 
New York Reg. No. 2693067 
Direct Dial: (305) 982-6317 
E-mail: andersonci@sec.gov 
Lead Counsel 

Attorney for Plaintiff 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION 
801 Brickell Avenue, Suite 1800 
Miami, Florida 33131 
Telephone: (305) 982-6300 
Facsimile: (305) 536-4154 
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